

Faculty of health sciences / Department of community medicine

The association between whole blood mercury and the risk of developing CVD among the Greenlandic population

Trine Louise Jul Larsen *HEL-3950 Master's thesis in Public Health May 2017*

Supervisor: Jon Øyvind Odland External Supervisor: Stine Byberg







Table of Contents

Preface	4
Abstract	5
List of Abbreviations	6
1.0 Introduction:	7
Cardiovascular diseases:	7
Mercury in the Arctic:	7
Mercury:	8
The Mechanism of mercury:	9
Objective:	9
2.0 Methods	10
Setting:	10
2.1 Study Design & sample:	11
Inclusion and exclusion criteria:	11
Validation of data:	12
Pilot study:	12
Ethical Considerations:	12
2.2 Materials and Methods:	12
Present study participants:	13
Blood samples:	13
Mercury and Selenium:	13
Total cholesterol, HDL- cholesterol, triglycerides and calculated LDL-cholesterol:	13
Haemoglobin A1c (HbA1c):	14
Other clinical measures:	14
Body mass index (BMI):	14
Waist circumference (WC):	14
Waist-to-hip ratio (WHR):	14
Blood pressure (BP):	15
Questionnaire derived measures:	15
Place of residence:	15
Education:	15
Physical Activity:	15
Smoking:	16
2.3 Statistical analysis:	16
Baseline characteristics:	16
Cox regression:	17
Exposure variable:	17
Outcome variable:	18
Validated outcome:	18
Linearity and inter-correlation:	18
Sensitivity analysis:	19
Effect modification:	19
Confounder:	19
2.4 Previous studies on potential confounders:	21
Age and sex:	21
BMI and PAEE:	21
Selenium:	22
Place of residence:	22
Education:	22
Smoking:	22
LDL, HDL-cholesterol and Triglycerides:	23

Blood pressure:	
HbA _{1c} :	
3.0 Results	24
Characteristics of study population:	
Association between whole blood mercury and the risk of CVD	
Sensitivity analysis:	
Effect modification:	
4.0 Discussion:	
Main findings:	
Strengths:	
Limitations:	
Selection bias:	
Consistency with other studies:	
Implication for research:	
Implication for policy	
5.0 Conclusion	
6.0 Literature list:	

Preface

The present thesis is written as a product of the master's degree program in Public Health, at the University of Tromsø – Norges arktiske Universitet.

I would like to express my appreciation to all those, who contributed to the development and completion of my master thesis.

I am very grateful to Marit Eika Jørgensen, for giving me the opportunity to write this master thesis at Steno diabetes Centre.

First and foremost I would like to express my gratitude to my external superviser, Stine Byberg for supporting and providing me with supervision of all aspects during the writing of my thesis. I would like to thank all the inspiring people of group 469, Steno diabetes Centre for welcoming me with open arms.Thank you all for given me an insight in a inspiring, supportive and professional work environment.

Finally, I want to thank Peter Bjerregaard and Marit Eika Jørgensen for lending me the data from 'Inuit Health in Transition study 2005-2010' and the research group that participated in the data collection.

Trine Jul Larsen Copenhagen, May 2017

Abstract

Introduction: The World Health Organization, estimated that 17.5 million people died from cardiovascular disease (CVD) in 2012 alone, accounting for 30% of global deaths and serving as the number one cause of death globally. Environmental pollutants, such as heavy metals (e.g. mercury) and persistent organic pollutants (POPs) (e.g. polychlorinated biphenyl (PCBs), may contribute to the burden of CVD, especially within the Arctic. The highest levels of whole blood mercury have been found in Greenland.

Objective: To explore the association between whole blood mercury and the risk of developing CVD among the Greenlandic population.

Methods: The continuous effects of whole blood mercury levels of incident CVD were investigated, among 3083 participants, from the population-based cohort study '*Inuit Health in Transition Greenland survey 2005-2010*' using cox regression. Both univariate and multivariate analyses were conducted, adjusting for a range of potential confounders. Whole blood mercury was measured at inclusion. Participants were followed in the National Patient registries for Denmark and Greenland and in the cause of death register for CVD events. The overall incidence rates and the hazard ratio of CVD events among participants for overall CVD were calculated. Potential interactions with sex were also investigated.

Results: The highest levels of whole blood mercury were found in men, who had a significantly higher median level of 19 μ g/L, compared with women (15 μ g/L (p<0.001)). The crude hazard ratio (HR) for developing overall CVD was 0.99 (95% CI 0.99-1.00) for any given level of whole blood mercury. After adjusting for several potential confounders, the HR remained 0.99 (95% CI 0.98-1.00).

Conclusion: The present study found no association between whole blood mercury and the risk of developing CVD among the Greenlandic population. Furture research on mercury should investigate genetic susceptibility of mercury among the Greenlandic population, as susceptibility to mercury, may be increased by genetic factors.

List of Abbreviations

AMAP	Arctic Monitoring and Assessment Programme
ALA	Alpha Lipoic Acid
BMI	Body Mass Index
BP	Blood Pressure
CHD	Coronary Heart Disease
CVD	Cardiovascular disease
GHDR	Greenlandic Hospital Discharge Register
GNPR	Greenland National Patient Register
HbA _{1c}	Glycated Haemoglobin A _{1c}
HDL	High-density lipoprotein
HR	Hazard Ratio
ICD-10	International Classification Diseases - tenth edition
IHD	Ischemic Heart Disease
IHIT	Inuit Health in Transition
IPAQ	International Physical Activity Questionnaire
IPAQ-L	International Physical Activity Questionnaire - Long version
LDL	Low-density Lipoprotein
MET	Metabolic Equivalents
NAC	N-Acetyl Cysteine
NPR	The Danish National Patient Register
OGTT	Oral Glucose Tolerance Test
PAEE	Physical Activity Energy Expenditure
PCB	Polychlorinated biphenyl
POPs	Persistent Organic Pollutants
RMR	Resting Metabolic Rate
WC	Waist Circumference
WHR	Waist-to Hip ratio
WHO	World Health Organization

1.0 Introduction:

Cardiovascular diseases:

Cardiovascular disease (CVD) is a non-communicable disease that encompasses a group of disorders of the heart and blood vessels including coronary heart disease (CHD), cerebrovascular disease, peripheral arterial disease, rheumatic heart disease, congenital heart disease, deep vein thrombosis, and pulmonary embolism (1). The World Health Organization (WHO), estimates that 17.5 million people died from CVD in 2012 alone, accounting for 30% of global deaths and serving as the number one cause of death globally (2). Important modifiable risk factors for CVD include unhealthy diet, overweight/obesity, elevated blood glucose, physical inactivity, smoking and excess alcohol consumption. Underlying determinants of CVD also include social, economic and cultural change, as well as poverty, stress and hereditary factors.

Environmental pollutants, such as heavy metals (e.g. mercury) and persistent organic pollutants (POPs) (e.g. polychlorinated biphenyl (PCBs), may contribute to the burden of CVD directly or indirectly via promotion of these and other risk factors and associated diseases. Considering the significant burden that CVD have on global mortality, it is imperative to explore and assess factors that may promote or exacerbate the pathogenesis of these diseases (2). Recently, more emphasis has been placed on the potential contribution of environmental factors on the risk of developing CVD. WHO recognized that deaths from CVD could be prevented by reducing or removing exposure to environmental pollutants such as heavy metals (2, 3).

Mercury in the Arctic:

Traditionally, it has been thought that the Inuit population, were protected against CVD through the traditional diet, mainly comprising fish and sea mammals, such as seals and whales. The diet containing of a high proportion of omega-3-fatty acids, proteins vitamins and minerals lead to the hypothesis that the Inuit were protected against ischemic heart disease (IHD) and CHD. In addition to the beneficial effects of the traditional diet, the diet also contributes to high intakes of lipophilic organic pollutants and mercury, which is reflected in blood levels.

The adverse health effects of the contaminants and the beneficial effects of n-3 fatty acids from the traditional Inuit diet, have led to the phenomenon known as 'The Arctic Dilemma' (4-8).

In 1991, the Arctic Monitoring and Assessment Programme (AMAP) was established to monitor identified pollutants and their effect on the Arctic ecosystem. The main objective of AMAP is to investigate the potential effects of contaminants on the health of the Arctic populations. AMAP has assisted in the development, establishment, continuity and evaluation of protocols for heavy metals and POPs for the United Nations Economic Commission for Europe and the Stockholm Convention on POPs.

AMAP has in Greenland and other Arctic countries, systematically monitored whole blood mercury levels, and within the Arctic, the highest levels of whole blood mercury have been found in Greenland (9-12).

Mercury:

Mercury is a globally pollutant, which has been ranked as the third most toxic environmental heavy metal after arsenic and lead (13, 14). It has been used for a variety of products including cosmetics and medical products; among others it has been used as a diuretic, antiseptic and as a treatment for syphilis, and has also been used as a poison (15, 16). Mercury is a heavy metal highly toxic to humans (17), released into the environment through natural sources such as volcanoes, geothermal outgassing activities, and earthquakes or through anthropogenic sources as industrial point sources, chlor-alkali plants and coal-fired plants. Mercury exists in three different forms: Elemental mercury, Inorganic mercury and Organic mercury.

Elemental mercury is a liquid, but forms into vapour, when heated above room temperature. Elemental mercury oxidises to inorganic mercury in the air and settles in lakes, rivers or bays. Further inorganic mercury accumulates to organic mercury and is accumulated through the food chain through plankton, fish and large predators. Thus, populations with high intake of seafood are likely to be exposed to high levels of mercury, which has been reported to harm brain, lungs, kidneys and the heart (15-17). The harmful effects of exposure of mercury on human health were first discovered after accidents in Japan and Iraq. In the Japanese village of Minamata Bay in1953, industrial waste containing methylmercury was deposited in the bay. Mercury accumulated within the food chain, from plankton to fish and was ingested by the inhabitants. The inhabitants experienced neurological symptoms such as tremor, speech impairment, blindness, including occurrence of mental retardation, coma and death. Infants, whose mothers were affected by the deposit of industrial waste containing mercury, developed mental retardation, peripheral neuropathy and cerebral palsy (18). The potential association between mercury and CVD, was only discovered later after industrial workers in the former Soviet Union exposed to prolonged mercury vapor, experienced an increase in the number of cardiac diseases with frequent hypertension (19).

The Mechanism of mercury:

The mechanism in which mercury affects the cardiovascular system is not fully clarified, but seems to involve mitochondrial dysfunction and an increase in oxidative stress (18, 20). The mitochondrial dysfunction occurs because of an interaction of coenzymes, resulting in a depolarization and auto oxidation of the inner mitochondrial membrane with lipid peroxidation and severe mitochondrial dysfunction. The dysfunction increases the oxidant stress and decrease the oxidant defense (20).

Mercury has a high affinity for sulfhydryl groups, N-acetyl cysteine (NAC) and alpha lipoic acid (ALA). The Sulfhydryl group is one of the most reactive and universal molecules, and are involved in the cell membrane structure and function.

The interaction of organic mercury compounds with reactive sulfhydryl's results in changes in specific transport and permeability systems.

NAC and ALA are important for glutathione, which is the most potent intracellular antioxidant and protects against oxidative stress, inflammation and cardiovascular disease. Selenium is a necessary cofactor for glutathione peroxidase activity, to break down hydrogen peroxides and other various toxic peroxidations, but mercury reduces the selenium availability, thus increasing the risk of CVD.

Mercury has shown to increase the oxidation of low-density lipoprotein (LDL), which is an important marker for the risk of developing CVD, and to also stimulate the proliferation of the vascular muscle cells and inactivate paraoxonase, an enzyme related to high-density lipoprotein (HDL). The high affinity for the groups above, compromises much of the antioxidant capacity of plasma, thus reduces the membrane and plasma oxidant defense, increasing the risk of CVD (15, 18-22).

Objective:

To explore the association between whole blood mercury and the risk of developing CVD among the Greenlandic population.

2.0 Methods

Setting:

Greenland is situated in the Arctic and is the world's largest island. The country has approximately 57,000 inhabitants spread out in 18 towns and approximately 60 villages, primarily on the South and central West coast. Towns and villages in Greenland often need to be self-sufficient and are very vulnerable to external factors because of their small size and isolation. Regarding lifestyle, living conditions, educational achievement and occupational structure, substantial differences are found between the larger towns and the more remote often sparsely populated towns and villages. The economic conditions in a village are often less favourable than those found in the nearest town (23).

In 1953, Greenland became a Danish colony, and in 1979 Greenland was granted selfgovernment from the Danish parliament. Further in 2009, Greenland gained the right to selfgovernance, with the future goal to attain full independence. Nuuk is the capital with a population of 16.000 inhabitants, where the central hospital in Greenland, Queen Ingrid's Hospital, is located (24).

Since 1953, the population in Greenland has undergone profound demographic and socioeconomic changes. The changes included a reduction in the prevalence of infectious diseases such as tuberculosis, but an increase in chronic diseases such as cancer and CVD, as well as mental health problems, abuse of alcohol, youth suicides and violence (25). The traditional hunting economy has been replaced by wage earning and social welfare, and the changes have led to marked health changes in Greenland (26, 27). Smoking is prevalent among the population in the Arctic, not only among adults but also among pregnant women and adolescents. However surveys conducted in Greenland show a decrease in the prevalence of smoking. Physical activity patterns have changed along with the transition where a decline in physical activity has been observed(26). Abuse of alcohol is also a major health problem among the Inuit population (28, 29). In Greenland the alcohol consumption increased from low levels in the 1950s to high levels in the 1980s. Since then the consumption has declined to an average yearly consumption equivalent to 8.8 L pure alcohol per person aged 15 years and older. During the past century, the diet of the Inuit has become increasingly westernized. In Greenland, the traditional diet accounted for 82% of the energy intake around year 1900. However, over the past 60 years the consumption of the traditional diet has decreased to 21% of the total energy intake. The contemporary diet has increasingly been replaced by imported

food of low quality such as junk food, sweets and soda. The dietary changes have resulted in a population that is steadily becoming more obese (26). Metabolic and cardiovascular diseases are major public health issues among indigenous populations in the Arctic (26).

In 2011, the primary health care system was restructured from 16 districts to five regions with one leading local clinic in each region (30). Each region has a hospital staffed with doctors, nurses, physiotherapists and other professionals in the town and health clinics in every village. The village clinics are staffed according to population size. The largest clinics have a nurse as the responsible, while the smallest clinics have a health worker without formal health education responsible for the village. According to regulations, all village clinics are visited regularly by doctors, midwifes and other health care staff. In case of emergency patients can be admitted to larger hospitals by boat or plane, depending on the wheather conditions. Prescription of medicine and all services in the health care system in Greenland are free of charge (23).

2.1 Study Design & sample:

The present study is a prospective longitudinal cohort study, using data derived from the population-based cohort study '*Inuit Health in Transition Greenland survey 2005-2010*' (IHIT). IHIT was designed with the aim to study the interaction between environmental and genetic factors on health and disease patterns of the Inuit in Greenland, as well as contribute to a better understanding of transition from a traditional lifestyle to a modern industrialized life and its effects on health. One of the specific aims of the IHIT study was to explore risk factors for CVD and diabetes. The study comprised participants selected through a stratified random sample of adult (18+ years of age) inhabitants with residence in Greenland during 2005-2010. Greenland was divided into strata based on geography (Southwest coast, Central Westcoast, Northwest coast, East Greenland, North Greenland), and community size (towns with \geq 2000, < 2000 inhabitants and villages). From each of these strata one or more towns and 2-3 villages were selected for the study as being representative for the stratum with regard to living conditions.

The data collection took place from 2005-2010, information was collected in 9 towns and 13 villages, some towns were visited twice, in order to achieve the desired participation rate (31).

Inclusion and exclusion criteria:

Inclusion criteria for participation in the IHIT study was age of 18 or older born in either Greenland or Denmark.

Participants who had participated in the population survey, conducted in 1999-2001 were excluded, except in Qasigiannguit (n = 902) where they were followed up. Participants were contacted by letter, explaining the purpose of the study and examination procedures. If the recipients wanted to participate in the study, they informed the data collection team by letter or phone.

Validation of data:

The data was collected by a team consisting of a local person responsible for the recruitment of the participants, a supervisor, laboratory technicians, interviewers and clinical assistants. The data collection and the processing of data were done by a total of 81 people. The data collected was double entered into EpiData. The data files were imported into SAS combined with the results of blood analyses and clinical examinations. The validity of the data was further checked against permitted values and logical errors (31).

Pilot study:

Prior to the IHIT study, a logistic pilot study was conducted in 2003 on three villages, in Ilulissat on the West coast of Greenland. The participation rate for the pilot testing was 49.7% and totaled 97 participants. Information was collected using questions designed for the 2005-2010 survey. After the pilot testing, new questions and procedures were included in the final survey (28).

Ethical Considerations:

The Committee for Research Ethics in Greenland granted ethical approval. After being informed about the study orally and in writing, participants gave their written consent (31).

2.2 Materials and Methods:

All participants in the IHIT and the pilot study underwent a questionnaire interview and clinical examinations.

Participants were instructed to show for the clinical examinations fasting, defined as at least 8 hours without eating and drinking.

After the fasting blood samples were drawn, a 2hr oral glucose tolerance test (OGTT), was performed. Participants underwent an interviewer-administrated questionnaire for approximately 40 minutes, and afterwards completed a self-reported questionnaire. Several clinical tests were also performed. At the end of the session, participants were informed of the results of the tests and 200 Danish kroner was paid to each participant.

Present study participants:

All participants from IHIT with a valid measurement of whole blood mercury and with no history of CVD at enrolment in IHIT were included in the present study.

If persons with a history of CVD were included, we could risk that the potential CVD event occurring after date of the whole blood mercury measurement was in fact a recurrent event and not a new event.

Blood samples:

In the present study, the following values of blood samples were included in the analyses: mercury, selenium, HDL-cholesterol, triglycerides, calculated LDL-cholesterol and glycated haemoglobin A_{1c} (Hb A_{1c}).

All blood samples were drawn by venepuncture at normal venous pressure and stored for future analyses. Fasting and 120 min. plasma glucose, insulin and C-peptide after an OGTT, were also taken.

HbA_{1c}, total cholesterol, HDL-cholesterol, triglycerides, fatty acids in RBC membranes, mercury, selenium and organochlorines (PCB and pesticides) were taken in full blood. LDL-cholesterol was calculated based on total cholesterol, HDL-cholesterol and triglycerides. A spot urine sample was collected for each participant and the urine sample was stixed for albumine, nitrit and leucocytes and further analysed for micro albumin and creatinine.

Mercury and Selenium:

Levels of mercury and selenium was measured in full blood, stored at -20°C and analysed using a inductively coupled mass spectrometry, in the laboratoire de Toxicologie/INSPQ, Sainte-Foy, Quebec, Canada. The detection limit for mercury was 0,5 nmol/l and 0,1 μ mol/l for selenium (31).

Total cholesterol, HDL- cholesterol, triglycerides and calculated LDL-cholesterol:

Total cholesterol, HDL-cholesterol and triglycerides were measured with a minimum of 1.5 ml blood component, using a BD-vacutainer dry No. 367819. The samples were separated into a Nunc Cryo Tube 1.8 ml No 368632, and were allowed to rest for 30 minutes before they were centrifuged at 20°C, 3000 rpm for 10 minutes. It was then stored frozen in -20°C, and analysed in the laboratory at Steno Diabetes Centre, Gentofte, Denmark. Enzymatic colorimetric tests were performed using Hitachi 917 (12). Based on total cholesterol HDL-cholesterol and triglycerides, LDL-cholesterol was estimated using the following formula: LDL cholesterol = total cholesterol – (triglycerides (TG)/5 + HDL-cholesterol (32).

Haemoglobin A1c (HbA1c):

HbA_{1c} was measured using bioRAD sample preparation kit - Na-heparinised (5 μ l) capillary in Eppendorf tube with 1 ml EDTA and potassium cyanide solution (0.25 mmol/l). The capillary was filled with blood stabilized with EDTA, and transferred into the sample preparation vial and shaken to rinse the blood from the capillary. The sample was stored at 4 ° C or at room temperature until shipment to Denmark. The samples were analysed at the laboratory at Steno Diabetes Centre, Gentofte, Denmark, using the Ion exchange HPLC method; measured by Tosoh G7 (26).

Other clinical measures:

In addition to blood sampling, the clinical procedures in the IHIT study also included anthropometric measurements such as height, weight, waist and hip circumference, as well as bio impedance, blood pressure (BP), electrocardiogram, ultrasound examination of subcutaneous and visceral abdominal fat and liver fat, ultrasound examination of carotid intima media thickness and a combined measurement of heart rate and body movement using Actiheart®.

For the present study body mass index (BMI), waist circumference (WC), waist-to hip ratio (WHR) and BP were included which will be elaborated below.

Body mass index (BMI):

BMI was calculated as the participant's weight in kilograms divided by the square of the person's height in metres (33).

Height and weight was measured with the participant stripped to underwear and socks. Weight was measured on a standard electronic clinical scale (26).

Waist circumference (WC):

WC was measured midway between the rib cage and the iliac crest on the standing participant (31).

Waist-to-hip ratio (WHR):

WHR was calculated by measuring the waist and the hip circumference, at the widest diameter of the buttocks, and then dividing the waist measurement by the hip measurement (34).

Blood pressure (BP):

Blood pressure was measured on the right arm of the sitting participant after five minutes of initial rest, using an automatic measuring device (Kivex UA-779) with an appropriate size cuff. Blood pressure was measured three times with one-minute interval. The two last measurements were averaged for the analysis (26).

Questionnaire derived measures:

Two questionnaires were used in the IHIT study: an interviewer administered including questions on sociocultural and demographic factors, dietary habits, physical activity, smoking, self-rated health, and self-reported diseases as heart disease, diabetes and hypertension and a self-administrated questionnaire including questions related to private matters such as suicidal thoughts and attempts, alcohol and marihuana consumption, violence and sexual abuse and gambling habits.

When the participant had answered the questionnaire, the answers would be put in an envelope, which would be opened by the researcher in charge of the survey only, and the answers would be treated confidential and anonymously.

The questionnaires were translated from Danish into Greenlandic and translated back to Danish in order to validate the translation. For the present study, place of residence, educational level, physical activity and smoking were included.

Place of residence:

Each participant reported the name of the town/village where they were living. Based on the size of the town/village place of residence was categorized as town or village.

Education:

Participants were asked about the number of years in school and their highest attained education. This was then categorized into: still being a student, completed primary school or high school, a short vocational (post primary education less than three years) or longer vocational education (e.g an academic education).

Physical Activity:

Physical activity was measured using a modified version of the interviewer-administrated seven-day International Physical Activity Questionnaire (IPAQ) (long version) (IPAQ-L) (35). Since a wide variety of physical activities is undertaken by people throughout the world, IPAQ focus the cultural adaption of the questionnaire (36). The questionnaire was slightly modified to adjust to Arctic living conditions, by replacing some of the activity examples with cultural examples, based on a pilot study. Participants reported time spent on physical activity in the previous seven days: how often (number of days per week) and for how long (average duration per day). Questions were asked separately for vigorous intensity, moderate intensity and walking in four domains: work, transportation, domestic and leisure time (31, 37). Physical activity energy expenditure (PAEE), was calculated by multiplying time reported (minutes/week) by the net metabolic cost of each activity, which was expressed in metabolic equivalents (METs). The net metabolic cost of each activity was assigned according to the PA Compendium's gross MET values subtracted by 1 MET to account for resting metabolic rate (RMR). An estimate of total daily sedentary time was calculated from time spent sitting, such as TV and computer use and reading. The time series of activity intensity were summarized into total PAEE kJ/kg/day (26).

Smoking:

Participants were asked whether they smoked, smoked but not daily or did not smoke. Participants, who did not smoke, were asked if they had formerly smoked. Former smokers would be asked approximately how much they used to smoke on average during a day, as well as the year the participant had stopped smoking.

2.3 Statistical analysis:

For the present study, the continuous effects of whole blood mercury levels among participants from the IHIT study and the pilot study, in both univariate and multivariate analyses were investigated. The overall incidence rates and the hazard ratio (HR) of CVD events among participants for overall CVD, using Cox regression were calculated. Potential interactions with sex, was also investigated.

Sensitivity analyses were conducted, where CVD was grouped in two groups, consisting of CVD related to the heart and CVD related to cerebrum.

Baseline characteristics:

The distributions of all baseline characteristics were assessed according to sex as there were sex-differences in both mercury levels and CVD incidence. Baseline characteristics were presented as mean and standard deviation for normally distributed variables and median and interquartile range for non-normally distributed variables. Normality and deviations hereof were assessed from histograms.

The normally distributed variables included: Cholesterol, HDL-cholesterol, calculated LDLcholesterol, BMI, systolic/diastolic BP, WHR and HbA_{1c}. Not normally distributed variables included: age, whole blood mercury, triglycerides, PAEE, WC and selenium.

All categorical variables: place of residence, education and smoking were presented as percentages. Using t-test for continuous variables and chi2 test for categorical variables, there was tested for difference by sex.

All statistical analyses were performed in Stata/MP 14.0.

Cox regression:

For the present study the association between whole blood mercury levels and the risk of CVD, both in a crude analysis and adjusting for several potential confounders was assessed. The analyses were performed using cox regression with calendar time as the underlying time-scale.

Cox regression makes a predictive model for time-to-event data, analysing the effect of several risk factors on survival or event of interest, in this case CVD. Mathematically cox regression is written as following: $h(t) = h_0(t) \ge b_1 x_1 + b_2 x_2 + ... + b_p x_p$

To interpret the result the $exp(b_1)$ was used referred to as hazard ratio (HR). HR can be regarded as a measure of relative risk. HR represents the probability that an individual would experience the event (CVD), at a particular given point in time after they entered the study, assuming that the individual has not experienced the event of interest till the end of follow up. A HR greater than one, indicates that the value of the covariate increases, thus the event hazard increases and the length of survival decreases (38-40).

Participants of the present study entered the analyses at date of examination and contributed risk time until date of CVD diagnosis/death, emigration, death from other causes or end of follow-up 30/09-2013.

Exposure variable:

The exposure variable in the present study was whole blood mercury, included as a continuous variable in the analyses.

Outcome variable:

The outcome in the present study was a composite endpoint comprising all fatal and non-fatal CVD diagnoses retrieved from the Greenland National Patient register (GNPR), the Danish National Patient Register (NPR) and in the causes of death register.

Based on the International Classification Diseases, tenth edition (ICD-10) coding, all deaths or hospital admissions from ischemic heart disease (ICD20-25), atrial fibrillation (ICD48), heart failure (ICD50), cerebrovascular diseases (ICD60-69) and vascular diseases (ICD70-79) were categorized as a CVD event.

Validated outcome:

All CVD diagnosis from the Greenlandic Hospital Discharge Register (GHDR) in the IHIT, were validated by a medical doctor. A second medical doctor double validated 48 medical records to assess inter observer disagreement. The second validation was in complete agreement with the first validation by the first primary doctor, thus the validity of cardiovascular diagnoses in GHDR is considered very good, with acceptable agreement between medical records and diagnoses in GHDR (41).

Linearity and inter-correlation:

In the regression analyses, all continuous variables were included as continuous. In the regression analyses, the effect of continuous variable is assumed to be linear. Therefor it was tested for deviations from linearity by also including the quadratic, cubic and logarithmic transformation of the continuous variable in the analyses. No deviation from linearity was found for whole blood mercury and it was kept as a continuous variable. Selenium and triglycerides did deviate from linearity, but they were kept without transformations as they only were included as potential confounders. The variables; total cholesterol, HDL-cholesterol, LDL-cholesterol, and triglycerides, were inter-correlated. So were WHR, WC and BMI. Multicollinearity is a situation in which two or more variables are very closely related and this can affect parameter estimation (18). Total cholesterol was therefore removed from the final analyses, as all the other measures of lipids were included in this variable. On obesity WHR and WC were removed, as BMI is generally a more common used measurement of obesity than WHR and WC (13).

Sensitivity analysis:

In the present study sensitivity analyses were conducted by grouping the outcome overall CVD into two groups, consisting of CVD related to the heart (ICD20-25, ICD48 and ICD50) and CVD related to cerebrum (ICD60-69 and ICD70-79).

This was to investigate if mercury may have different effects on CVD mainly related to the heart or CVD mainly related to the cerebrum (42, 43).

Persons with previous CVD were included in the sensitivity analyses, if the previous CVD was unrelated to the incident of CVD. Thus, persons who had experienced e.g. stroke before they were included in the analyses where CVD mainly related to the heart was the outcome and vice versa.

Effect modification:

Effect modification (or interaction) is a method to assess if the effect between the primary exposure of interest and the outcome differs among subgroups of individuals, in order to identify which subgroups of individuals may be at higher risk.

If the effects of the primary exposure varies by stratifying for subgroups there will be an effect modification (44, 45).

For the present study, whether the effect of whole mercury interacted with sex on the outcome CVD was assessed. Potential interactions with sex were investigated as there was found sexdifferences in both the levels of mercury and in CVD incidence.

Confounder:

A confounder is a third factor that is both a risk factor for the outcome and is associated with the exposure in question. The confounder can affect the variable being studied, so the results do not reflect the actual relationship between the variables under the study (44, 46). To control for confounding in the analyses, researcher adjusted the analyses for several potential confounding variables.

In order to identify potential confounders for the association between whole blood mercury and the risk of CVD, the theory of directed acyclic graphs (DAG) was applied. A DAG is a theoretical tool, which gives a visual representation of causal assumptions, and reveals the structure of associations that could be observed (47).

For the present study, following confounders, based on findings from previous studies, were included: age, sex, PAEE, selenium, place of residence, education, smoking, HDL and LDL-

cholesterol, triglycerides, BMI, WC, systolic and diastolic BP and HbA_{1c} . The assumed structure of whole blood mercury and the risk of developing CVD is visualized in figure 2. Researcher adjusted for confounders in the regression analyses using a forward stepwise approach.

In the crude model (model 1), only the crude association between whole blood mercury and CVD was assessed.

In model 2, researcher adjusted the association of whole blood mercury and CVD for age and sex. Age was included as a continuous variable, sex as a binary variable.

In model 3, there was adjusted for age and sex, as well as PAEE, selenium, place of residence and education. PAEE was included as a continuous variable along with selenium. Place of residence was included as a binary variable, while education was categorized into four groups.

In the final model (model 4), researcher adjusted the association of whole blood mercury and CVD for model 3 and additionally for smoking as a categorized variable and for HDL-cholesterol, calculated LDL-cholesterol, triglycerides, BMI, systolic/diastolic BP and HbA_{1c} as continuous variables.

Figure 2. DAG on the association between whole blood mercury and the risk of CVD



2.4 Previous studies on potential confounders:

Age and sex:

A study from Sweden, found that mercury levels increased with age, and that males had a higher blood mercury concentration than women (48). This was also seen in a study from America (49) Similarly a study conducted in Korea found that males had a higher concentrations of whole blood mercury than the women (50). In Greenland, the total CHD prevalence was higher among men than among women (4). CVD is known to be lower among women than men and tends to increase with age. Worldwide on average, CHD mortality is up to five times higher among men than women (51).

BMI and PAEE:

Organic mercury compounds are very fat soluble: 90-100% of an oral dose is absorbed in the body (52). Inuit populations in the Arctic have high levels of obesity according to the international guidelines for BMI and WC (53).

A study consisting of participants from Korea, showed that blood mercury concentration increased according to BMI and WC, and obesity increased in relation to the blood mercury concentration. The study concluded that fat mass levels should be considered as a confounding factor when blood mercury is used as an indicator of exposure (54). Physical activity plays a central role in the amount of adipose tissue. Since mercury accumulates in adipose tissue, the amount of adipose tissue may affect the concentration of mercury in the blood (54).

A study from Canada found a significant association between BMI and CVD, and concluded in their study that a BMI of 25-29.9 increased the risk of CVD with approximately 60% compared with lower BMI (55).

A study conducted in the United States, found both BMI and WC to strongly predict for the future risk of developing CHD (56).

Physical inactivity is a major contributor to CVD and a study conducted in the United States, showed that higher physical activity is associated with a lower risk of developing CVD compared to less physical activity (57). In a study conducted in Greenland, CHD was more common among the participants who were less physically active (4).

Selenium:

Mercury has a high affinity for sulfhydryl groups, which reduces the antioxidant defense. Selenium proteins are important components of antioxidant systems that actively protects against damage from free radicals (58). Mercury reduces the selenium availability, which is a necessary factor break down hydrogen peroxidase and other peroxidation products, thus increases the risk of CVD (59). A study conducted in Germany found that patients who had an acute coronary syndrome and low selenium concentrations, were at additional risk of future cardiovascular death (60).

Place of residence:

The highest measurements of mercury have been found in villages, compared to participants living in the towns. Thus, living in a village increases the level of mercury (61). A study conducted in Greenland found the highest prevalence of CHD, in the least Westernized groups in Greenland, being in the villages (4).

Education:

In a study conducted in Korea, an association between education level and mercury was found (50). Participants with middle school as the reference level, for highest attained graduated school, had the highest levels of mercury (50). In a study conducted in Sweden, higher blood levels of mercury was associated with higher education levels (48). In a study conducted in Norway, cardiovascular risk factors and high IHD mortality were

more prevalent among the less educated participants, compared to highly educated participants (62).

Smoking:

Tobacco contains mercury. About 6 ng of mercury is released in smoke per unit length of cigarettes, and 80% of mercury in the smoke is retained in the human body. Provided that 20 cigarettes are consumed per day, the daily amount of mercury will be 336 ng retained in the human body (63).

Tobacco smoking is a major cause of CVD, and beyond its status as an independent risk factor, smoking appears to have a multiplicative interaction with the other major risk factors for CHD such as high serum levels of lipids, untreated hypertension, and diabetes mellitus (64).

LDL, HDL-cholesterol and Triglycerides:

Mercury has shown to increase the oxidation of LDL-cholesterol, and inactivate paraoxonase, an antioxidative enzyme related to HDL. These mechanisms of mercury are thought to explain the increased risk of CVD found in some studies of the effect of mercury on CVD risk, including CHD, myocardial infarction, hypertension and arrhythmias (59). High levels of lipids are risk factors for CVD. High levels of LDL cholesterol, can lead to atherosclerosis, increase the risk of heart attack and IHD and stroke. HDL cholesterol reduces the risk of CVD as it carries cholesterol away from the blood stream. High levels of LDL cholesterol and triglycerides combined, increases the risk of atherosclerosis and the risk of heart attack and stroke, thus increase the risk of CVD (65).

Blood pressure:

A study conducted in the Brazilian Amazon, found a significant dose-effect relation between mercury exposure and BP, leading to the conclusion high mercury levels could increase the BP (4).

Similar study conducted in Greenland found no relationship regarding mercury exposure and increased BP (32).

Increased BP, hypertension, defined as a systolic blood pressure at or above 140 mmHg and/or a diastolic BP at or above 90 mmHg is a risk factor for CHD, stroke and atherosclerosis, thus a risk factor for CVD (66).

HbA_{1c}:

Mercury exposure has been associated with the higher incidence of diabetes. Studies have shown that high mercury exposure may be associated with pancreatic β -cell dysfunction, suggesting that mercury may be a risk factor for diabetes (67). Exposure to mercury, decrease cell viability in the pancreatic β -cell line and cause pancreatic islet β -cell dysfunction, which may lead to the development of diabetes (24).

Several studies have been conducted regarding the association between high levels of HbA_{1c} and the risk of CVD, have found increasing risks of CVD and total mortality with high levels of HbA_{1c} (68-71).

3.0 Results

Characteristics of study population:

All participants in IHIT (3.253) were included as well as the 97 persons, who had participated in the pilot study, leading to a sample of 3350 participants.

148 participants were excluded from the analyses as they did not have a valid measurement of whole blood mercury (Figure 1). Further, 119 persons with a past history of CVD were excluded, as researcher only was interested in looking at incidence of CVD, after mercury levels assessment. Thus, a total of 267 persons were excluded, leading to the final sample size consisting of 3083 participants. A total of 162 participants experienced CVD event during follow-up.

Figure 1. Flowchart - Inuit Health in Transition – Greenland Survey 2005-2010



All the baseline characteristics for the present study, stratified by sex can be seen in table 1. Of the final sample comprising 3083 participants, 43.4% (n=1338) participants were men and 56.6% (n=1745) were women.

Men had a significantly lower level of HDL-cholesterol (p<0.001) and a higher level of LDLcholesterol compared to women (although not statistically significant). Women had a significantly higher BMI compared with men, whereas men had higher levels of systolic and diastolic BP as well as HbA_{1c}.

The median age for the men was 44 years and 43 years for women. The level of whole blood mercury was not equally distributed among men and women. The highest levels of whole blood mercury were found in men, who had a significantly higher median level of 19 μ g/L, while women had a lower level of whole blood mercury with a median at 15 μ g/L (p<0.001). PAEE was significantly higher among the men with a median of 54.0 KJ/kg/day compared to women with a median of 45.8 KJ/kg/day (p<0.001). Blood selenium was equally distributed among both sexes with a median level at 240 μ mol/L (p=0.24).

Looking at the categorical variables, women had a higher tendency of daily smoking by (64.1 %) compared to men, were 60.5% reported daily smoking (p=0.09). Education was more or less equally distributed among men and women. The highest and most frequent attained educational level for both sexes was 'short vocational education (less than three years), where 54.4 % of the men had attained that level compared to 56.9% of the women. Of the women 7.1% had a longer vocational education/academic education, compared to 6.6% of the men.

Looking at the distribution of the place of residence, approximately 2/3 of both men and women lived in towns.

Table 1 – Baseline characteristics stratified by sex

	Men $(n = 1338)$	Women ($n = 174$	5) P-value
Characteristics			
Mean (SD) Normally Distribut	ed		
HDL-cholesterol (mmol/L)	1.6 (0.6)	1.7 (0.5)	≤0.001
LDL-cholesterol $(mmol/L)^1$	3.7 (1.1)	3.6 (1.0)	0.15
BMI (kg/m ²)	25.8 (4.6)	26.6 (5.5)	≤0.001
Systolic bloodpressure (mmHg	$)^{2}$ 137.3 (23.0)	129.6 (22.0)	≤0.001
Diastolic blood pressure (mmH	g) 82.7 (17.0)	78.8 (14.0)	0.04
$HbA_{1c} (mmol/L)^3$	5.7 (0.5)	5.6 (0.4)	≤0.001
Median (first quartile, third	quartile) Not normal	ly distributed	
Age (years)	44 (18-54)	43 (18-52)	0.02
Whole blood mercury (μ g/L)	19 (0.9-44)	15 (0.8-32)	≤0.001
Triglycerides (mmol/L)	0.99 (0.4-1.4)	1.0 (0.4-1.4)	0.64
PAEE $(KJ/kg/day)^4$	54 (0-99)	45.8 (0.7-69)	≤0.001
Blood selenium $(\mu mol/L)^5$	240 (94.8-440)	240 (100-410)	0.25
Percentages (%) Categorized			
Smoking: ⁶			0.09
- Daily	808 (60.5%)	1118 (64.1%)	
- Yes, but not daily	76 (5.7%)	94 (5.4%)	
- No	452 (33.8%)	529 (30.4)	
Education: ⁷			0.29
- Still student	14 (1%)	21 (1.2%)	
- Primary school/High school	504 (38%)	599 (34.6%)	
- Short vocational education (less than three years)	723 (54.4%)	984 (56.9%)	
- Longer vocational education/ academic education	87 (6.6%)	124 (7.1%)	
Place of residence			0.52
Town	977 (73.0%)	1292 (74%)	
Village	362 (27.0%)	453 (26%)	

Association between whole blood mercury and the risk of CVD

Table 2 shows the regression analyses of whole blood mercury and the risk of developing CVD.

In the crude analysis (model 1), the HR for developing overall CVD was 0.99 (95% CI 0.99-1.00) for any given level of whole blood mercury. Thus, there was no crude association between whole blood mercury and the risk of developing CVD in the study population. The HR did not change after adjusting for age and sex in model 2. Age was however, a risk factor for developing CVD (HR: 1.08, 95% CI 1.07-1.09), furthermore women had a lower risk of developing CVD, compared with men (HR 0.55, 95% CI 0.40-0.76).

In model 3, additionally adjusted for physical activity energy expenditure (PAEE), selenium, place of residence and education, there were no effects of whole blood mercury on the risk of developing CVD (HR 0.99, 95% CI 0.98-1.00). PAEE and selenium was not associated with the risk of developing CVD. However, living in a village was associated with a lower risk of developing CVD (HR 0.58 95% CI 0.36-0.92).

HR for short vocational education level was 0.88 (95% CI 0.20-3.75), while the HR for longer vocational level was 0.24 (95% CI 0.03-1.81), compared with still being a student.

In model 4, researcher adjusted for all variables. Again, no associations between whole blood mercury and the risk of developing CVD was seen (HR 0.99 95% CI 0.98-1.00). Smoking was associated with a lower risk of developing CVD (HR 0.83 95% CI 0.57-1.20), compared with non-smokers. Higher levels of LDL-cholesterol (HR 1.08 95 % CI 0.93-1.26) and HbA_{1c} (HR 1.11 95% CI 0.82-1.50) levels tended to be associated with higher risk of developing CVD.

Table 2 – Association between exposure to mercury and the risk of developing CVD events for overall CVD (n=3083)

Model 1 - Crude		
Exposure	Hazard Ratio	95% CI
Whole blood mercury (µg/L)	0.99	0.99 1.00
Model 2 – Adjusted for age and sex		
Whole blood mercury (µg/L)	0.99	0.99 1.00
Age (Years)	1.08	1.07 1.09
Sex		
- Male	1.00 (ref)	
- Female	0.55	0.40 0.76
Model 3 – Adjusted for age, sex, PAEE, selenium, place of		
residence, education		
Whole blood mercury (µg/L)	0.99	0.98 1.00
Age (Years)	1.07	1.05 1.08
Sex		
- Male	1.00 (ref)	
- Female	0.53	0.38 0.73
Physical Activity Energy Expenditure	0.99	0.99 1.00
(KJ/kg/day)		
Blood selenium (µmol/l)	1.00	0.99 1.00
Place of residence	1.00 (
- Town	1.00 (ref)	0.04
- Village	0.58	0.36 0.92
Education	1.00 (
- Still Student	1.00 (ref)	0.20 5.04
- Primary school/ high school	1.23	0.30 5.04
- Short vocational education (less than 3 years)	0.88	0.20 5.75
- Longer vocational education/academic	0.24	0.03 1.81
Model 4 - Adjusted for age, sex, PAEE, selenium, place of		
residence, education, smoking, HDL/LDL-chol,		
Unglycendes, BMI, WC, Sys/Dia BP, HDATC	0.00	0.00 1.00
Vyhole blood mercury (µg/L)	1.07	1.05 1.00
Age (Years)	1.07	1.05 1.09
Sex Male	1.00 (rof)	
- Male	1.00 (fel)	0.22 0.72
- Felliale Deviced Activity Energy Expanditure	0.50	0.55 0.75
Physical Activity Energy Experiment	0.99	0.99 1.00
(KJ/Kg/day) Plood colonium (umol/l)	1.00	0.00 1.00
Blood seleman (µmor/1)	1.00	0.33 1.00
- Town	1.00 (ref)	
- Village	0.53	0.32 0.86
Education	0.55	0.32 0.00
- Still Student	1.00 (ref)	
- Primary school/ high school	1.00 (101)	0 27 4 77
- Short vocational education (less than 3 years)	0.78	0.18 3.40
- Longer vocational education/academic	0.21	0.02 1.62
Smoking	0.21	0.02 1.02
- Yes	0.83	0.57 1.20
- Yes, not daily	0.81	0.34 1.91
- No	1.00 (ref)	0101 1101
Hdlc (mmol/L)	0.92	0.26 4.55
Ldlc (mmol/L)	1.08	0.93 1.26
Triglycerides (mmol/L)	0.92	0.67 1.26
Body mass index (BMI)	0.98	0.89 1.08
Waist circumference (cm)	1.03	0.98 1.08
Systolic blood pressure (mmHg)	1.00	0.99 1.00
Diastolic blood pressure (mmHg)	0.99	0.98 1.00
HbA, (mmol/I)	1 11	0.82 1.50
	1.11	0.02 1.00

Sensitivity analysis:

The effects of whole blood mercury on CVD mainly related to the heart (IHD, atrial fibrillation and heart failure) are shown in Table 3.

In the crude analysis (model 1), the HR for developing CVD mainly related to the heart was 1.00 (95% CI 0.99-1.00) for any given level of whole blood mercury. Thus, there was no crude association between whole blood mercury and the risk of developing CVD mainly related to the heart in the study population.

After stepwise adjusting for potential confounders in the same manner as the main analyses, researcher still found no effect of whole blood mercury on incident CVD mainly related to the heart (HR 0.99 95% CI 0.99-1.00).

Sensitivity analyses where cerebrum related CVD (stroke and vascular diseases) is the outcome can be seen in Table 4.

In the crude analyses (model 1) there was no crude association between whole blood mercury and the risk of developing CVD related to cerebrum. The HR for developing cerebrum related CVD was 1.00 (95% CI .99-1.00) for any given level of whole blood mercury.

Further analyses adjusted for potential confounders again showed no association on whole blood mercury and the risk of developing CVD mainly related to cerebrum HR 0.99 (95% CI 0.98-1.00).

Table 3 – Association between whole blood mercury and the risk of developing CVD mainly related to the heart (IHD, atrial fibrillation and heart failure).

Model 1 - Crude	Hazard Ratio	95% CI
Whole blood mercury (µg/L)	1.00	0.99 1.00
Model 2 – Adjusted for age and sex		
Whole blood mercury (µg/L)	0.99	0.99 1.00
Age (Years)	1.09	1.07 1.10
Sex		
- Male	1.00 (ref)	
- Female	0.45	0.30 0.67
Model 3 – Adjusted for age, sex, PAEE, selenium, place of		
Whole blood more www. (ug/L)	0.00	0 00 1 00
$\frac{V_{\text{Hole blood mercury}}(\mu g/L)}{\Lambda_{\text{re}}(V_{\text{ears}})}$	1.08	1.06 1.10
Age (Teals)	1.00	1.00 1.10
- Male	1.00 (ref)	
- Female	0.53	0.38 0.73
Physical Activity Energy Expenditure	1.00	0.99 1.00
(KJ/kg/dav)	1.00	0.000
Blood selenium (µmol/L)	1.00	0.99 1.00
Place of residence		
- Town	1.00 (ref)	
- Village	0.54	0.31 0.95
Education		
- Still Student	1.00 (ref)	
 Primary school/ high school 	2.11	0.28 15.50
- Short vocational education (less than 3 years)	1.92	0.24 14.93
- Longer vocational education/academic	0.33	0.02 5.63
Model 4 -Adjusted for age, sex, PAEE, selenium, place of		
residence, education, smoking, HDL/ LDL -cnol,		
Whole blood moreover (ug/L)	0.00	0.00 1.00
$\Delta ge (Vears)$	1.08	1.06 1.10
Say	1.00	1.00 1.10
- Male	1.00 (ref)	
- Female	0.49	0.30 0.78
Physical Activity Energy Expenditure	1.00	0.99 1.00
(KJ/kg/day)		
Blood selenium (µmol/L)	1.00	0.99 1.00
Place of residence		
- Town	1.00 (ref)	
- Village	0.49	0.27 0.89
Education		
- Still Student	1.00 (ref)	
- Primary school/ high school	1.69	0.22 12.77
- Short vocational education (less than 3 years)	1.46	0.18 11.80
- Longer vocational education/academic	0.27	0.01 4.75
Shioking	0.63	0.40 0.08
- Yes not daily	0.03	0.40 0.98 0.34 1.91
- No	1.00 (ref)	0.54 1.91
Hdlc (mmol/L)	0.89	0.58 1.38
Ldlc (mmol/L)	1.16	0.98 1.38
Triglycerides (mmol/L)	0.94	0.65 1.35
Body mass index (BMI)	0.94	0.84 1.05
Waist circumference (cm)	1.03	0.99 1.07
Systolic blood pressure (mmHg)	1.00	0.99 1.01
Diastolic blood pressure (mmHg)	0.99	0.98 1.01
HbA _{1c} (mmol/L)	1.16	0.82 1.64

Table 4 – Association between whole blood mercury and the risk of cerebrum related CVD (stroke and vascular diseases).

Model 1 - Crude	Hazard Ratio	95% CI
Whole blood mercury (µg/L)	1.00	0.99 1.00
Model 2 – Adjusted for age and sex		
Whole blood mercury (µg/L)	0.99	0.98 1.00
Age (Years)	1.07	1.05 1.08
Sex		
- Male	1.00 (ref)	
- Female	0.69	0.44 1.08
Model 3 – Adjusted for age, sex, PAEE, selenium, place of		
residence, education	0.00	0.00 1.00
Whole blood mercury (µg/L)	1.06	0.98 1.00
Age (Tears)	1.00	1.05 1.06
- Male	1.00 (ref)	
- Female	0.68	0.43 1.07
Physical Activity Energy Expenditure	0.99	0.99 1.00
(KJ/kg/day)		
Blood selenium (µmol/L)	1.00	0.99 1.00
Place of residence		
- Town	1.00 (ref)	
- Village	0.55	0.28 1.08
Education		
- Still Student	1.00 (ref)	
- Primary school/ high school	1.32	0.18 9.70
- Short vocational education (less than 3 years)	0.86	0.11 6.74
- Longer vocational education/academic Model 4 Adjusted for age, say DAEE, selenjum, place of	0.32	0.04 0.00
residence education smoking HDI /I DI -chol triglycerides		
BMI, WC, Sys/Dia BP, HbA1c		
Whole blood mercury (µg/L)	0.99	0.98 1.00
Age (Years)	1.06	1.03 1.08
Sex		
- Male	1.00 (ref)	
- Female	0.61	0.37 1.02
Physical Activity Energy Expenditure	0.99	0.99 1.00
(KJ/kg/day)	1.00	0.00 1.00
Blood selenium (µmol/L)	1.00	0.99 1.00
Place of residence	1.00 (
- IOWN Villago	1.00 (ref)	0.25 0.08
- Vinage	0.50	0.23 0.98
- Still Student	1.00 (ref)	
- Primary school/ high school	1.44	0.19 10.71
- Short vocational education (less than 3 years)	0.98	0.12 7.81
- Longer vocational education/academic	0.61	0.05 7.27
Smoking		
- Yes	0.82	0.49 1.38
- Yes, not daily	0.96	0.33 2.79
- No	1.00 (ref)	0.00 1.00
Haic (mmol/L)	1.08	0.69 1.68
Laic (mmol/L)	1.13	0.93 1.39
Pody mass index (PMI)	0.80	0.00 1.29
Waist circumference (cm)	0.08	0.90 1.13
Systolic blood pressure (mmHg)	0.90	0.93 1.02
Diastolic blood pressure (mmHg)	1.09	0.68 1.74
HbA ₁₀ (mmol/L)	1.16	0.82 1.64
		0.0 <u>–</u> 1.0 <u>–</u>

Effect modification:

Whole blood mercury's potential interactions with sex was assessed by including an interaction term between sex and whole blood mercury in both crude and fully adjusted models. No statistically significant associations was found with sex in either the crude analyses (p=0.73) or in the fully adjusted analyses (p=0.44) (data not shown).

4.0 Discussion:

Main findings:

No association between whole blood mercury and the risk of developing overall CVD in the Greenlandic population was found. The conclusion was the same after adjustments for a range of potential confounding factors. Furthermore, no association between whole blood mercury and the risk of developing CVD related to the heart or to CVD related to the cerebrum was found in the Greenlandic population.

Strengths:

This is the first prospective longitudinal cohort study, which assessed the association between whole blood mercury and the risk of CVD in the Greenlandic population. Researcher was able to follow the study participants in several registers: GNPR, NPR and the causes of death register. Thus, all CVD events leading to hospital admissions or death are captured in our data. Furthermore, all CVD diagnoses in the study were validated by a medical doctor, thus the validity of CVD for this study is considered very good.

Whole blood mercury was used as a continuous measure, thus categorizing mercury into arbitrary categories was avoided. When using categorical measures, much information is lost, so the statistical power to detect a relation between the variable and the outcome is reduced. Secondly, there is a potential risk to underestimate the extent of variation in outcome between groups, such as the risk of some event, and considerable variability may be subsumed within each group. Individuals close to but on opposite sides of the cut point are characterized as being very different rather than very similar (72).

All Participants for the study were selected through a stratified random sample. Greenland was divided into strata based on geography, and from each of these strata one or more towns and 2-3 villages were selected for the study as being representative for the stratum with regard

to living conditions. The study had a participation rate of 66.7%, and surveyed a large proportion of the adult, Greenland born population (9.2%). Thus, it is believed that the persons included in the present study are more or less representative of the Greenlandic population.

In the present study, several potential confounders were assessed based on literature and previous studies.

Limitations:

Participants entered the analyses at date of examination, and contributed risk time until date of CVD diagnosis/death, emigration and death from other causes or end of follow-up 30/09-2013. The maximum follow-up time for the present study is eight years, and 162 participants experienced the event CVD. The short follow-up time and few events is a potential limitation for the present study. Nonetheless, the confidence intervals for the effects estimate of mercury on the risk of developing CVD were narrow. Thus, the results do not seem to be subject to lack of power.

The CVD events, derived from the patient registers and causes of death registers, only comprise diagnoses among patients hospitalized or dead from the CVD event. Thus, researcher may have underestimated the number of CVD events in the present study, as patients with a CVD event not admitted to the hospital were not captured by the registries. Nonetheless, as CVD is often a serious condition, it is believed that the majority of CVD events were referred to hospital or listed as cause of death.

Selection bias:

The participation rate varied across community size. In Nuuk the participation rate was 61.4%, in other larger towns the rate for participating was 65.1%, whereas the small towns had a participation rate of 69.9% and 68.5%.

A potential explanation for higher rates of non-participation in larger towns compared to villages could be because of a more busy daily life in towns, since the duration of the health examination took approximately two hours. In Nuuk in particular, many of the invited participants indicated lack of time as the reason for not wanting to participate (17% of the non-participant compared with 2% in the rest of the communities).

Persons with serious illness or disability and socially marginalized persons such as alcohol abusers, persons who frequently go in and out of jobs and the unemployed were over

represented among the non-participants. In addition, there was a distinct downwards participation trend from the beginning to the end of data collection in the towns. In some towns during the first week of the study 10% of those who had an appointment did not show up, whereas during the last week of the study as many as 26% failed to show up (p<0.001). Analyses of register-based income showed that the personal income was higher among participants compared with non-participants in the study, confirming a possible social bias (31, 73).

In this study there is a potential risk that hunters and fishermen are underrepresented, as they, in longer periods of time, are away from home and therefore not able to be present at the health examinations (73). Studies concerning dietary patterns in modern Greenland, has shown that hunters and fishermen were most likely to consume the traditional diet (74, 75). Thus, this underreporting could mean that the proportion of persons consuming the traditional diet is underrepresented in the present study.

Consistency with other studies:

The findings of no associations between mercury and incident CVD are consistent with studies conducted in America.

Using a nested case-control design, researchers investigated the association between mercury levels in toenails and the risk of incident CHD among male health professionals including dentists, nurses, veterinarians and pharmacists, with no previous history of CVD, at the age of 40-75 years in 1986. Researchers had 934 participants, three years of follow-up and categorized toenail mercury in quartiles. They found no association between toenail mercury and the risk of CHD (Relative risk 0.97, 95% CI 0.63-1.50) (76).

The results from the study is based only on male health professionals, thus the results might not be a true representative for a whole population, since underlying determinants of CVD also include social, economic and cultural change, as well as poverty and stress (2). In the present study we found the risk of CVD was lowest among participants with longer vocational education (HR 0.21, 95% CI .02-1.62). Thus, there is a potential risk participants at greater risk of CVD are being undetected in the study above.

However, a study conducted in Canada, found that Canadians with higher education and income tended to have higher blood levels of mercury (77). In the study the results are based on toenail mercury, categorized into quartiles.

The highest quartile had a median level of $1.34 \,\mu\text{g/g}$ mercury (range 0.87-14.56). The median level of mercury in the highest quartile is lower, compared to the present study, where the median level of mercury for men is 19µg/L. The study is conducted in America, a Westernized population, where most of the consumption of mercury is from fish. According to a study, the lack of an association between whole blood mercury and fish consumption, can be because of a lower average content of mercury in the various fish species versus seal and whale, which has a higher content of mercury (78). However, the findings of no associations between mercury and incident CVD are consistent with the present study, the differences in the study population e.g. lower levels of mercury in the diet, can explain the finding of no association. Nonetheless, fish are rich in long-chain n-3 polyunsaturated fatty acid (PUFA) such as eicosapentaenoic acid (EPA) and docosahexaenoic acid (DHA). The n-3 PUFA may reduce the risk of CVD. The beneficial effects of the fish can affect lipid and lipoprotein metabolism, blood pressure, platelet function, arterial cholesterol delivery, vascular function, and inflammatory responses (79). A study found the risk of a myocardial infarct was reduced in participants with high levels of PUFA (80). Thus, fish intake can have reduced the risk of CVD in the studies, explaining why they did not find an association.

Further, using the same study population, another nested case-control study was conducted on both men and women. Toenail mercury levels were categorized into quartiles. The highest quartile had a mean mercury level of 0.95 μ g/g. The study consisted of 3427 participants with CVD, matched with 3427 controls that did not have a CVD event during the same period. The quartiles of mercury were sex-specific and the relative risks (RR) for each were combined. The researchers found no association between mercury exposure and an increased risk of CVD among men or women (RR= 0.85, 95% CI 0.72-1.01) (81).

On the contrary, a study conducted in the Amazon Basin Brazil, found a strong correlation between exposure to mercury compounds from consumption of fish, and increased arterial blood pressure measured in levels of mercury in the hair. Hair mercury $\geq 10 \ \mu/g$ showed an odds ratio of 2.91 (95% CI 1.26-7.28) for elevated systolic BP (82). The study had a small sample size (259 participants), and the BP in the study was only measured once. It is well known that the predictive power of multiple blood pressure determinations is much greater than a single measure. A minimum of 2 measurements of the BP should be taken at intervals of at least 1 minute, and the average of those should be used to represent the patient's blood pressure (83). Furthermore, studies conducted in Finland and Sweden, found high content of mercury in the hair to be a risk factor for acute coronary events, CVD and CHD (84-86). Both Finland and Sweden are known to be a population low on serum selenium (87-89). Selenium deficiency has been associated with increased risk of CVD and other chronic diseases (90-93), which might explain the findings mercury in the hair to be a risk factor for CVD. In the present study both men and women had the same high median level of blood selenium (240 µmol/L), according to a study conducted in Canada, high selenium exposure lowers the odds of CVD (94). Selenium is an essential mineral that is a component of major antioxidant, which protects against oxidative stress (89). Oxidative stress may play a crucial role in different types of CVD (95). However, there was no association between blood selenium and the risk of CVD in the present study (HR 1.00, 95% CI 0.99-1.00).

Studies regarding the adverse health effects of mercury have also been conducted within the Arctic. Studies conducted in Nunavik (Northern Quebec, Canada) and in Faroe Islands, found high levels of whole blood mercury to have adverse effects on blood pressure (BP) and heart rate variability (HRV) among Inuit adults (94, 96-98).

On the contrary, a study conducted in 2012 on the association between BP and whole blood mercury was assessed among the Greenlandic population. Among the highest quartile of mercury for men (HR: 0.97, 95% CI 0.93-1.01) or women (HR: 0.99, 95% CI 0.95-1.02) on the systolic BP, there was no association. Surprisingly, the diastolic BP and the risk of hypertension decreased with increasing whole blood mercury concentrations among men (HR: 0.93, 95% CI 0.89-0.98) (99).

The explanation to different findings can be because of differences in the study populations. On the studies conducted in the Faroe Islands, the study population only comprised men. Differences in dietary habit among the similar study population of Inuit in Canada and in Greenland, may explain the differences in the findings.

In the present study we assessed BP as continuous variables. Men had a higher systolic and diastolic BP than women (137 mmHg v 129 mmHg p \leq 0.001 - 82 mmHg v 78 mmHg P<0.04). However, systolic (HR: 1.00, 95% CI 0.99-1.01) or diastolic BP (HR: 0.99, 95% CI 0.98-1.00) was not associated with the increased risk of CVD in the present study, adjusted for a range of other exposures.

In a recent study, the association between whole blood mercury and glucose intolerance among adult Inuit in Greenland was investigated. There was a weak but significant association for a 5µg/L increase in whole blood mercury with higher fasting plasma glucose (β =0.25, 95% CI 0.20-0.30 p-value <0.001) and type 2 diabetes (β =0.23, 95% CI 0.05-0.40 p-value 0.01) (100). The study is consistent with a study conducted in America, which found high levels of toenail mercury to increase the risk of diabetes later in life (HR: 1.65, 95% CI 1.07-2.56) (67).

In the present study, men had a mean HbA_{1c} of 5.7 mmol/L, and the women a mean of 5.6 mmol/L. Nonetheless, higher levels of HbA_{1c} , tended to increase the risk of CVD (HR: 1.11, 95% CI .82-1.50).

Implication for research:

Most environmental research on the effect of chemicals, focus on single exposures. However, people are often exposed to a mixture of chemicals and heavy metals, which can affect the same organ and induce similar effects. Nonetheless, studies that investigate effects of chemical mixtures in humans are limited (12).

In the present study our focus was mainly on whole blood mercury, and included blood selenium as a potential confounder.

Studies concerning mercury and adverse health effects of the BP, diabetes and now CVD, among the Greenlandic population has been conducted. Further studies, concerning the association between selenium and CVD could be investigated in order to assess if the finding of no association could be explained by the protective effects of selenium.

Biomonitoring levels of contaminants in Greenland have shown that the population has some of the highest concentrations of POPs and heavy metals in the arctic. In the IHIT study, high concentrations of PCBs was found in both men and women (12).

A study conducted on a Native American population, investigated if high serum PCBs were associated with lipids and CVD. They concluded that PCBs are directly responsible for increased levels of cholesterol and triglycerides, whereas it will increase the risk of CVD (101). The findings were consistent with another study conducted in Anniston, Alabama. They found increased concentrations of PCBs and organochlorine pesticides were associated with elevations in total serum lipids, total cholesterol and triglycerides, but the patterns were different for different groups of PCBs and different pesticides. They concluded that the elevation in concentrations of serum lipids could be the basis for the increased incidence of CVD found in persons with elevated exposures to PCBs and chlorinated pesticides (102). Another study conducted in America, using data from the National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey from 1999-2004, found that PCBs were significantly associated with the increased risk of hypertension (103).

Although time series data indicate a current decline in concentrations of most heavy metals and POPs in the Arctic (9), biomonitoring contaminants in the Arctic should be continued. According to a recent study, climate changes causes glaciers to melt, which can increase the amount of mercury in the ocean in Greenland (104).

Studies regarding PCBs and their effect on the risk of CVD have not yet been conducted among Inuit in Greenland. Further research concerning the adverse effects of PCBs on the health of Inuit, should be conducted to assess if there is a potential association between PCBs and the risk of CVD, further studies regarding PCBs and their effects on lipids and BP should be assessed.

Concerning future research on mercury, it is suggested to investigate if there is an association between mercury and increased levels of lipids. According to a study, mercury increases LDL oxidation. High levels of LDL-cholesterol is associated with atherosclerosis (15). However, studying genetic susceptibility of mercury could also contribute to a larger knowledge, since susceptibility to mercury may be increased by genetic factors (105).

Implication for policy

The traditional Greenlandic diet consists of a high intake of fish and marine mammals such as seal, whale and sea mammals. Fish and sea mammals are among the food items that contain the highest levels of environmental contaminants, exposing the Greenlandic population to a high intake of mercury. Greenland is the country within the Arctic, that have the highest levels of whole blood mercury (11, 106).

Among the present study participants, the geometric median level of whole blood mercury among men was 19 μ g/L (IQR 0.9-44) and 15 μ g/L (IQR 0.8-32) among women. The levels are just below the Health Canada guidelines for mercury blood concentrations of 20 μ g/L, which is the level considered acceptable for the general adult population in relation to health (107).

The traditional Greenlandic diet also contains important trace elements and antioxidants such as selenium and unsaturated fatty acids which have shown to have favorable effects on health (94, 108, 109). The adverse health effects of the contaminants and the beneficial effects of selenium and n-3 fatty acids have led to the phenomenon known as the Arctic Dilemma (5, 108).

In 1997, The Greenland Board of Nutrition was established by the Ministry of Health (of the Greenlandic Government), with the purpose of collecting and documenting information about diet and health and assist the government in, establishing strategic plans for diet and nutrition. A major challenge to the board has been to advise the community about the intake of the traditional Greenlandic diet.

Through the years the consumption of the traditional diet consumed at least once per week (figure 3), has decreased (110). Younger people eat less traditional food compared to the elder generations and on average, traditional food only contributes to approximately 20% of the dietary intake (9, 110).

Figure 3.

once per week in 1993 and in 2005–09. (1993: N=1,356–71; 2005–09: N=2,525–34). The model is adjusted for age and sex.			
Food item	1993 (95% CI)	2005-09 (95% CI)	p-value
Seal	63% (61; 66)	37% (35; 39)	<0.0001
Whale	28% (25; 30)	27% (25; 28)	0.6
Fish	65% (63; 68)	58% (57; 60)	<0.0001
Reindeer	11% (9; 13)	21% (20; 22)	<0.0001
Game birds	42% (40; 45)	33% (31; 35)	<0.0001

Table 1. Difference in the amount of people in Greenland who consumed various traditional foods at least

Overall scientists in environmental health have pointed to the potential negative effects on health of the mercury in the meat, organs and blubber of seals and whales, willing to convey the alarming message to the public (111), in order to reduce the intake of mercury. However, The Greenlandic Board of Nutrition, encourage the population to continue eating the traditional diet (111, 112).

The association between whole blood mercury and the risk of CVD was assessed, and no association was found. The important modifiable risk factors for CVD, being unhealthy diet,

obesity, elevated blood glucose, physical inactivity and the underlying determinants of CVD including social, economic and cultural change (2, 27, 113) can explain why, whole blood mercury showed to have no effect on the risk of CVD in the present study. The lifestyle of the Inuit is becoming more sedentary and as a consequence of rapid changes in lifestyle the prevalence of obesity and diabetes has increased dramatically. In Greenland more than half of the Inuit population is overweight or obese when using body mass index as a measurement of obesity.

The consequences of the increasing levels of obesity and diabetes are serious in Greenland. The substantial changes which have taken place in Greenland the past 50 years, may have contributed to an increased incidence of CVD.

Early studies from Greenland indicated that CHD was infrequent as well as a low prevalence of IHD. Analyses indicated that mortality from stroke and cerebrovascular disease was high. Further it was concluded that mortality from CVD was higher among the Inuit than in white comparison populations (26, 114).

Studies of the Inuit in Greenland before the 1980s found a low prevalence of diabetes compared to Danes and other western populations. Recent studies of diabetes among the Greenlandic population found a high prevalence of 9.2% in the adult population (115, 116). Studies has concluded obesity in Greenland plays, a greater role for public health than the exposure to contaminants from the traditional diet (110, 111).

Thus, it is preferable that the Inuit in Greenland continue to consume the traditional diet, as it can have beneficial effects on health as mentioned above.

For future prevention of CVD in Greenland, further health care planning should focus on behavioral risk factors as physical activity and diet as well as biological risk factors such as obesity and diabetes.

5.0 Conclusion

The present study comprised 3083 participants with valid measures of whole blood mercury, and is, to the best of researchers knowledge, the first study to explore the association between whole blood mercury and the risk of CVD among the Greenlandic population.

Researcher found no association between whole blood mercury and the risk of CVD among the Greenlandic population.

Sensitivity analyses were conducted grouping the outcome overall CVD, into two groups consisting of CVD related to the heart CVD related to cerebrum, as well as assess potential interactions with sex. No association between whole blood mercury was found in both groups and potential interactions with sex were not significant.

Future research concerning mercury among the Greenlandic population, should focus on investigating genetic susceptibility of mercury, as susceptibility to mercury, may be increased by genetic factors.

6.0 Literature list:

1. Uncerstanding NCDs. In: Rayner Mike, Wickramasinghe Kremlin, Williams Julianne, McColl Karen, Mendis Shanthi, editors. An introduction to population-level prevention of non-communicable diseases: Oxford Press; 2017. p. 13-30.

2. WHO. Cardiovascular diseases (CVD): World Health Organization; 2016 [updated Reviewed September 201606.12.16]. Fact sheet]. Available from: http://www.who.int/mediacentre/factsheets/fs317/en/.

3. WHO. The Public Health Impact of Chemicals: Known and Unknowns Geneva, Switzerland: World Health Organization; 2016 [cited 2017 23/1]. Available from: <u>http://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/10665/206553/1/WHO_FWC_PHE_EPE_16.01_eng.pdf?ua</u> =1.

4. Jørgensen Eika Marit, Bjerregaard Peter, Kjærgaard Jørgen Jens, Johnsen-Borch Knut. High prevalence of markers of coronary heart disease among Greenland Inuit. Atherosclerosis. 2008;196:772-8.

5. Deutch Bente, Dyerberg Jørn, Pedersen Sloth Henning, Aschlund Ejner, Hansen C. Jens. Traditional and Greenlandic food - Dietary composition, nutrients and contaminants. Science of the Total Environment. 2007;384.

6. Dewailly Eric. Canadian Inuit and the Arctic Dilemma. Oceanography. 2006;19(2).

7. Laird D. Brian, Goncharov B. Alexey, Egeland M. Grace, Chan Man Hing. Dietary advise on Inuit traditional food use needs to balance benefits and risk of mercury, selenium and n3 faty acids. The Journal of Nutrition. 2013;143.

8. Etherton-Kris M. Penny, Harris S. William, Appel J. Lawrence. Fish consumption, Fish Oil, Omega-3 Fatty Acids and Cardiovascular Diasease. Circulation. 2002;106.

9. Gibson Jennifer, Adlard Bryan, Olafdottir Kristin, Sandager Manning Torkjel and Odland Øyvind Jon. Levels and trends of contaminants in humans of the Arctic. International Journal of Circumpolar Health. 2016;75:1-16.

10. Donaldson Shawn, Adlard Bryan and Odland Øyvind Jon. Overview of human health in the Arctic: conclusions and recommendations. International Journal of Circumpolar Health. 2016;75.

11. Johansen Poul, Muir Derek, Asmund Gert, Riget Frank. Contaminants in the traditional Greenland diet. National Environmental Research Institute, Department of Arctic Environment, Environment Canada, National Water Research Institute; 2004 May 2004. Report No.: 492.

12. Programme AMaA. AMAP Assessment 2015: Human Health in the Arctic. Oslo, Norway: 2015.

13. Solenkova V. Natalia, Newman D. Jonathan, Berger S. Jeffrey, Hochman S. Judith, Lamas A. Gervasio. Metal pollutants and cardiovascular disease: Mechanisms and consequences of exposure. American Heart Journal. 2014;168.

14. Andreoli Virginia, Sprovieri Francesca. Genetic aspects of Susceptibility to mercury toxicity: An overview. International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health. 2017;14.

15. Genchi Giuseppe, Sinicropi Stefania Maria, Carocci Alessia, Lauria Graziantorio and Catalano Alessia. Mercury Exposure and Heart Diseases. International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health. 2017;14(74).

16. Clarkson W. Thomas, Vyas B. Jayesh, Ballatori Nazzareno. Mechanisms of Mercury Disposition in the Body. American Journal of Industrial Medicine. 2007;50:757-64.

17. WHO. Preventing disease through healthy environments. Exposure to mercury: A major public health concern Geneva, Switzerland: Public health and environment World Health Organization; 2007 [cited 2017 16/2]. Flyer]. Available from: http://www.who.int/phe/news/Mercury-flyer.pdf.

18. Azevedo Fernandes Bruna, Furieri Barros Lorena, Pecanha Maciel Franck, Wiggers Alessandra Giulia, Vassallo Frizera Paula, Simoes Ronacher Maylla, et al. Toxic Effects of Mercury on the Cardiovascular and Central Nervous System. Journal of Biomedicine and Biotechnology. 2012;2012.

19. Su Y. Judy, Wei-Jen C. The effects of Methylmercury on Isolated Cardiac Tissues. American Journal of Pathology. 1979;95:753-64.

20. Houston C Mark. The role of Mercury in Cardiovascular Disease. Journal of Cardiovascular Diseases & Diagnosis. 2014;2(5):1-8.

21. Oliveira M. E, Vassallo V. D, Sakris J. J. F, Mill G. J. Mercury effects on the concractile Activity of Isolated Heart Muscle. Toxicology and Applied Pharmacology. 1994;128:86-91.

22. Trakhtenberg M. I. Cardio toxic effects of Mercury. Chronic Effects of Mercury on Organisms. U.S: U.S Depertment of Health, Education and Welfare, Publiv Health Service National Institutes of Health,; 1979. p. 123-30.

23. Niclasen Birgit, Mulvad Gert. Health care and health care delivery in Greenland. International Journal of Circumpolar Health. 2010;69.

24. statistik G. Lokaliteter i Grønland Nuuk, Greenland2013 [cited 2017 23 April]. Available from: <u>http://www.stat.gl/publ/da/be/201401/pdf/Lokaliteter%20i%20Grønland.pdf</u>.

25. Bjerregaard Peter, Petersen-Dahl K. Inger. How well does social variation mirror secular change in prevalence of Cardiovascular risk factors in a country in transition? American Journal of Human Biology. 2011;23.

26. Tvermosegaard Maria, Pedersen-Dahl K. Inger, Nielsen O. Nina, Bjerregaard Peter, Jørgensen E. Marit. Cardiovascular Disease Susceptibility and Resistance in Circumpolar Inuit Populations. Canadian Journal of Cardiology. 2015;31:1116-23.

27. Curtis Tine, Kvemmo Siv, Bjerregaard Peter. Changing living conditions, lifestyle and health. International Journal of Circumpolar Health. 2005;64.

28. Madsen M H, Grønbaek M, Bjerregaard P, Becker U. Urbanization, migration and alcohol use in a population of Greenland Inuit. International Journal of Circumpolar Health. 2005;64.

29. Ravello de Lori, Jones Everett Sherry, Tulloch Scott, Taylor Melanie, Doshi Sonal. Substance Use and Sexual Risk Behaviors Among American Indian and Alaska Native High School Students. Journal of School Health. 2014;84.

30. Greenland Go. Redegørelse om Sundhedsreformen, 2010. In: Sundhed Df, editor. Greenland: Departementet for Sundhed; 2010.

31. Bjerregaard P. Inuit Health in Transition Greenland survey 2005-2010 - Population sample and survey methods 2nd revised edition. In: Folkesundhed SIf, editor. National Institute of Public Health, Copenhagen2011.

32. McNamara R. Judith, Cohn S. Jeffrey, Wilson F. W. Peter, Schaefer J. Ernst. Calculated Values for Low-Density Lipoprotein Cholesterol in the Assessment of Lipid Abnormalities and Coronary Disease Risk. Clinical Chemistry. 1990;36.

33. WHO. Body Mass Index - BMI WHO Regional Office for Europe UN City: World Health Organization Regional Office for Europe; 2017 [cited 2017 17/3].

34. health Hsop. Measuring obesity Boston, MA: Harvard school of Public health; 2017 [cited 2017 23 April]. Available from: <u>https://www.hsph.harvard.edu/obesity-prevention-source/obesity-definition/how-to-measure-body-fatness/</u>.

35. Questionnaire IPA. Guidelines for Data Processing and Analysis of the International Physical Activity Questionnaire (IPAQ) - Short Form 2004 [cited 2017 26 February].
2:[Available from: <u>http://www.institutferran.org/documentos/scoring_short_ipaq_april04.pdf</u>.

36. group Ipa. Cultural adaption 2016 [cited 2017 22. Marts]. Available from: <u>https://sites.google.com/site/theipaq/cultural-adaptation</u>.

37. Petersen-Dahl K. Inger, Jørgensen E. Marit, Bjerregaard Peter. Physical activity patterns in Greenland: A country in transition. Scandinavian Journal of Public Health. 2011;39:678-86.

38. Bradburn J. M, Clark G. T, Love B. S, Altman G. D. Survival analysis part II: Multivariate data analysis - an introduction to concepts and methods. British Journal of Cancer. 2003;89.

39. Field Andy. Discovering Statistics using Spss. London: SAGE Publications; 2009.

40. IBM. IBM SPSS Advanced Statistics 21. United States of America: IBM; 2012.

41. Tvermosegaard Maria, Rønn Falberg Pernille, Pedersen Lynge Michael, Bjerregaard Peter, Petersen-Dahl Katrine Inger, Jørgensen Eika Marit, et al. Cardiovascular diagnoses in the Greenlandic Hospital Discharge Register are valid for epidemiological use. 2017.

42. Pannel J. David. Sensitivity analysis of normative economic models: Theoretical framework and practical strategies Agricultural Economics 1997;16.

43. Series CB. Cochrane Handbook for Systematic Reviews of Interventions. Higgins Julian, Green Sally, editors: Wiley; 2008.

44. Gordis Leon. Epidemiology. Third edition ed. Pennsylvania: Elsevier Saunders; 2004.

45. VanderWeele J. Tyler, Knold J. Mirjam. A tutorial on interaction. Epidemiological Methods. 2014;3.

46. Pourhoseingholi A. Mohamad, Baghestani R. Ahmad, Vahedi Mohsen. How to control confounding effects by statistical analysis. Gastroenterology and Hepatology From Bed to Bench. 2012;5.

47. Elwert F. Graphical Causal models. In: Morgan S L, editor. Handbook of causal analysis for social research. Nederlands: Springer; 2013. p. 245-73.

48. Bjermo H, Sand S, Nelsen C, Lundh T, Enghardt Barbieri , Pearson M, et al. Lead, mercury, and cadmium in blood and their relation to diet among Swedish adults. Food Chemestry Toxicology. 2013;10.

49. Mahaffey R. Kathryn, Clickner P. Robert, Bodurow C. Catherine. Blood Organic Mercury and Dietary Mercury intake: National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey, 1999 and 2000. Environmental Health Perspectives. 2004;112(5).

50. You Hun-Chang, Kim Byoung-Gwon, Kim Mi-Yu, Lee Ah-Sang, Kim Bum-rock, Seo Wook-Jeong, et al. Relationship between Dietary Mercury Intake and Blood Mercury Level in Korea. Occupation & Environmental Medicine. 2014;29.

51. Bots H Sophie, Peters E A Sanne, Woodward Mark. Sex differences in coronary heart disease and stroke mortality: a global assessment of the effect of ageing between 1980 and 2010. Bio Medical Journal of Global Health. 2017;2.

52. Langfold NJ, Ferner RE. Toxicity of mercury. Journal of Human Hypertension. 1999;13:651-6.

53. Jørgensen Eika Marit, Borch-Johnsen Knut, Stolk Ronald, Bjerregaard Peter. Fat Distribution and Glucose Intolerance Among Greenland Inuit. Diabetes Care. 2013;36:2988-94.

54. Park Suk jong, Ha Hwa Kyoung, He Ka, Kuim Jung Dae. Association between Blood Mercury level and Visceral Adiposity in Adults. Diabetes and Metabolism Journal. 2016.

55. Katzmarzyk PT, Reeder BA, Elliott S, Joffres MR, Pahwa P, Raine KD, et al. Body mass index and risk of cardiovascular disease, cancer and all-cause mortality. Canadian Journal of Public Health. 2012;103(2):147-51.

56. Flint J. Allan, Rexrode M. Kathryn, Hu B. Frank, Glynn J. Robert, Caspard Herve, Manson E. JoAnn, et al. Body mass index, waist circumference, and risk of coronary heart disease: a prospective study among men and women. Obesity Research & Clinical Practice. 2010;4(3).

57. Carnethon MR. Physical Activity and Cardiovascular Disease: How Much is Enough? American Journal of Lifestyle Medicine. 2009;3(1).

58. Mozaffarian D. Fish, Mercury, Selenium and Cardiovascular Risk: Current evidence and Unaswered Questions. International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health. 2009;6.

59. Mark HC. Role of mercury Toxicity in Hypertension, Cardiovascular disease and Stroke. Official Journal of the American Society of Hypeetension. 2011;13(8).

60. Lubos Edith, Sinning R. Christoph, Schnabel B. Renate, Wild S. Phillipp, Zellar Tanja, Rupprecht J. Hans, et al. Serum selenium and prognosis in cardiovascular disease: results from the AtheroGene study. Atherosclerosis. 2010;1.

61. Folkesundhed SIf. Sygdom og sundhedsvæsen Befolkningsundersøgelsen i Grønland 2005-2009. København: 2011.

62. Strand Heine Bjørn, Tverdal Aage. Can cardiovascular risk factors and lifestyle explain the educational inequalities in mortality from ischaemic heart disease and from other heart diseases? 26 year follow up of 50 000 Norwegian men and women. Journal epidemiology of community health. 2004;58.

63. Suzuki Tsuguyoshi, Shishido Sachiko, Urushiyama Kenji. Mercury in cigarettes. Tohuku J Exp Med. 1976;119:353-6.

64. Benjamin Regina, Galson K. Steven, Williams C. Robert, Romano A. Carol, Bigley Beth Mary, Moritsugo P. Kenneth, et al. How Tobacco Smoke Causes Disease: The Biology and Behavioral Basis for Smoking-Attributable Disease: A Report of the Surgeon General. United States: U S Department of Health and Human Services, 2010.

65. Federation WH. Cholesterol Switzerland, Geneve2017 [cited 2017 12/4-2017]. Available from: <u>http://www.world-heart-federation.org/cardiovascular-health/cardiovascular-disease-risk-factors/cholesterol/</u>.

66. Federation WH. Hypertension Switzerland, Geneva2017 [cited 2017 11/4/17]. Available from: <u>http://www.world-heart-federation.org/cardiovascular-health/cardiovascular-disease-risk-factors/hypertension/</u>.

67. He Ka, Xun Pengcheng, Liu Kiang, Morris Steve, Reis Jared, Guallar Eliseo. Mercury Exposure in young Adulthood and Incidence of Diabetes Later in Life. Diabetes Care. 2013;36:1584-9.

68. Eeg-Olofsson K, Cederholm J, Nilsson PM, Zethelius B, Svensson AM, Gudbjørnsdottir S, et al. New aspects of HbA1c as a risk factor for cardiovascular diseases in ype 2 diabetes: an observational study from the Swedish National Diabetes Register (NDR). Journal of Internal Medicine. 2010;268(5).

69. Goto Atsushi, Noda Mitsuhiko, Matsushita Yumi, Goto Maki, Kato Masayuki, Oba Shino, et al. Hemoglobin A1c Levels and the Risk of Cardiovascular Disease in People Without Known Diabetes

A Population-Based Cohort Study in Japan. Medicine. 2015;94.

70. Syed Asim Ahmad Iftikhar, Khan Ahmed Waqar. Glycated Haemoglobin — a marker and predictor of cardiovascular disease. Journal of the Parkistan Medical Association. 2011;61.

71. Chen Yu-Yun, Lin Jiang-Yenn, Chong Eric, Chen Chun-Pei, Chao Fan-Tas, Chen Ann-Shih, et al. The Impact of Diabetes Mellitus and Corresponding HbA1c Levels on the Future Risks of Cardiovascular Disease and Mortality: A Representative Cohort Study in Taiwan. PLoS One. 2015;10.

72. Altman G. Douglas, Royston Patrick. The cost of dichotomising continuous variables. Britisk Medical Journal - BMJ. 2006;332.

73. Petersen-Dahl I-K. Physical activity pattern and its relation to glucose metabolism in Greenland - a country in transition: University of Southern Denmark; 2013.

74. Bjerregaard Peter, Jeppesen Charlotte. Inuit Dietary Patterns in Modern Greenland. International Journal of Circumpolar Health. 2009;69.

75. Johansen Poul, Mulvad Gert, Pedersen Sloth Henning, Hansen C. Jens, Riget Frank. Human accumulation of mercry in Greenland. Science of the Total Environment. 2007;377.

76. Yoshizawa Kazuko, Rimm B. Eric, Morris Steven J, Spate L. Vickie, Hsieh Cheng-Chung, Spiegelman Donna, et al. Mercury and the risk of coronary heart disease in men. The New England Journal of Medicine. 2002;347.

77. Lye Ellen, Legrand Melissa, Clarke Janine, Probert Adam. Blood Total Mercury Concentrations in the Canadian Population: Canadian Health Measures Survey Cycle 1, 2007-2009. Canadian Public Health Association. 2013;104(3).

78. Jeppesen Charlotte, Jørgensen Eika Marit, Bjerregaard Peter. Assessment of consumption of marine food in Greenland by a food frequency questionnaire and biomarkers. International Journal of Circumpolar Health. 2012;71.

79. Yang Hong-Zhi, Okon-Emma Beatrice, Remaley T. Alan. Dietary marine-derived long-chain monounsaturated fatty acids and cardiovascular disease risk: a mini review. Lipids in Health and Disease. 2016;15.

80. Hallgren G. C, Hallmans G, Jansson J-H, Marklund L. S, Huhtasaari F, Schutz A, et al. Markers of high fish intake are associated with decreased risk of a first myocardial infarction. British Journal of Nutrition. 2001;86.

81. Mozaffarian Dariush, Shi Peilin, Morris Steven J, Spiegelman Donna, Grandjean Philippe, Siscovick S. David, et al. Mercury Exposure and Risk of Cardiovascular Disease in Two U.S. Cohorts. The New England Journal of Medicine. 2011;12.

82. Fillion Myriam, Mergler Donna, Passos Sousa Jose Carlos, Larribe Fabrice, Melanie L, Guimares Davee Remy Jean. a preliminary study of mercury exposure and blood pressure in the Brazilian Amazon. Environmental Health. 2006;5.

83. Picking G. Thomas, Hall E. John, Appel J. Lawrence, Falkner E. Bonita, Graves John, Hill N. Martha, et al. Recommendations for Blood Pressure Measurement in Humans and Experimental Animals

Part 1: Blood Pressure Measurement in Humans A Statement for Professionals From the Subcommittee of Professional and Public Education of the American Heart Association Council on High Blood Pressure Research. Hypertension. 2005;45.

84. Virtanen K Jyrki, Voutilainen Sari, Rissanen H Tiina, Mursu Jaakko, Tuomainen Pekka-Tomi, Korhonen J Maarit, et al. Mercury, Fish Oils, and Risk of Acute Coronary Events and Cardiovascular Disease, Coronary Heart Disease, and All-Cause Mortality in Men in Eastern Finland. Journal of the American Heart Association. 2005.

85. Guallar Eliseo, Sanz-Gallaedo Inmaculada, Veer Van't Pieter, Bode Peter, Aro Antti, Gomez-Aracena Jorge, et al. Mercury, Fish oils, and the risk of Myocardial Infarction. The New England Journal of Medicine. 2002;347(22).

86. Wennberg Maria, Strømberg Ulf, Bergdahl A. Ingvar, Jansson Håkon-Jan, Kauhanen Jussi, Norberg Margareta, et al. Myocardial infarction in relation to mercury and fatty acids from fish: a risk-benefit analyses based on pooled Finnish and Swedish data in men. The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition. 2012;96.

87. Koivistoinen P, Huttunen J. K. Selenium in food and nutrition in Finland. An overview on research and action. Annals of Clinical Research. 1986;18.

88. Varo P, Alfthan G, Ekholm P, Aro A, Koivistoinen P. Selenium intake and serum selenium in finland: effects of soil fertilization with selenium. The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition. 1988;48.

89. Alehagen U, Johansson P, Bjornstedt M, Rosen A, Post C, Aaseth j. Relatively high mortality risk in elderly Swedish subjects with low selenium status. European Journal of Clinical Nutrition. 2016;70.

90. Schomburg L. Dietary Selenium and Human Health. Nutrients. 2017;9.

91. Brown K. M, Arthur J. R. Selenium, selenoproteins and human healrth: a review. Public Health Nutrition. 2001;4.

92. Rayman MP. The importance of selenium to human health. The Lancet. 2000;356.

93. Attia Fouad Hossam, Solimann Mohamed Mohammed, Ismail Ahmed Tamer. Protective Effect of Vitamin E and Selenium on the Liver, Heart and Aorta. Journal of veterinary anatomy. 2012;5.

94. Hu Feng Xue, Ecdes M. Kristin, Chan Man Hing. High selenium exposure lowers the odds ratio for hypertension, stroke and myocardial infarction associated with mercury exposure among Inuit in Canada. Environmental health. 2017;10.

95. Dhalla N. S, Temsah R. M, Netticadan T. Role of oxidative stress in cardiovascular diseases. Journal of hypertension. 2000;18.

96. Valera Beatriz, Dewailly Eric and Poirier Paul. Environmental Mercury Exposure and Blood Pressure Among Nunavik Inuit Adults. American Heart Association. 2009.

97. Valera Beatriz, Dewailly Eric, Poirier Paul. Cardiac autonomic activity and blood pressure among Nunavik Inuit adults exposed to environmental mercury: a cross-sectional study. Environmental Health. 2008;7(29).

98. Choi L Anna, Budtz-Jørgensen Esben, Jørgensen J Poul, Salonen T Jukka, Tuomainen Tomi-Pekka, Murata Katsuyuki, et al. Methylmercury Exposure and Adverse Cardiovascular Effects in Faroese Whaling Men. Environmental Health Perspectives. 2009;117(3).

99. Nielsen Sternhagen Brit Anni, Davidsen Michael, Bjerregaard Peter. The association between blood pressure and whole blood methylmercury in a cross-sectional study among Inuit in Greenland. Environmental Health. 2012;11(44):1-10.

100. Jeppesen Charlotte, Valera Beatriz, Nielsen O. Nina, Bjerregaard Peter, Jørgensen E. Marit. Association between whole blood mercury and glucose intolerance among adult Inuit in Greenland. Environmental Research. 2015;143:192-7.

101. Goncharov Alexey, Haase F. Richard, Santiago.Rivera Azara, Morse Gayle, Enviroment the on Forse Task Akwesasne MJR, Rej Robert, et al. High Serum PCBs are associated with elevation of serum lipids and cardiovascular disease in a Native American population. Enviromental Research. 2008;106.

102. Aminov Zafar, Haase F Richard, Pavuk Marian, Carpenter O. David, Consortium Research Health Environmental Anniston. Analysis of the effects of exposure to polychlorinated biphenyls and chlorinated pesticides on serum lipid levels in residents of Anniston, Alabama. Environmental Health. 2013;12.

103. Christensen Yorita L. Krista, White Paul. A Methodological Approach to Assessing the Health Impact of Environmental Chemical Mixtures: PCBs and Hypertension in the National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey. International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health. 2011;8.

104. Søndergaard Jens, Tamstorf Mikkel, Elberling Bo, Larsen M. Martin, Mylius Rask Maria, Lund Magnus, et al. Mercury exports from a High-Arctic river basin in Northeast Greenland (74°N) largely controlled by glacial lake outburst floods. Science og the Total Enviroment. 2015;01.

105. Julvez Jordi, Grandjean Philippe. Genetic susceptibility to methylmercury developmental neurotoxicity matters. Front Genet. 2013;4.

106. Johansen Poul, Mulvad G, Pedersen Sloth Henning, Hansen C. Jens, Riget Frank. Human accumulation of mercury in Greenland. Science of the Total Enviroment. 2007;377:173-8.

107. Canada Health. Risk Management Strategy for Mercury Canada2010 [cited 2017 09.05]. Available from: <u>https://www.ec.gc.ca/doc/mercure-mercury/1241/index_e.htm#goto313</u>.

108. Jørgensen-Bonefeld E C. Biomonitoring in Greenland: human biomarkers of exposure and effects - a short review. Rural and Remote Health. 2010;10.

109. Syversen Tore, Kaur Parvinder. The toxicology of mercury and its compounds. Journal of Trace Elements in Medicine and Biology. 2012;26.

110. Jeppesen Charlotte. Traditional food in Greenland:

relation to dietary recommendations, biomarkers and glucose intolerance [PhD]. Denmark: University of Southern Denmark; 2012.

111. Bjerregaard Peter, Mulvad Gert. The best of two worlds: how the Greenland Board of Nutrition has handles conflicting evidence about diet and health. International Journal of Circumpolar Health. 2012;71.

112. Krummel Maria-Eva, Gilman Andrew. Arctic Monitoring and Assessment Programme: An update on risk communication in the Arctic. International Journal of Circumpolar Health. 2016;75.

113. DiNicolantonio J James. Increase in the intake of refined carbohydrates and sugar may have led to the health decline of the Greenland Eskimos. Open Heart. 2016;3.

114. Bjerregaard Peter, Young Kue T, Hegele A. Robert. Low incidence of cardiovascular disease among the inuit what is the evidence? Atherosclerosis. 2003;166:351-7.

115. Jørgensen M. E, Borch-Johnsen K, Witte D. R, Bjerregaard P. Diabetes in Greenland and its relationship with urbanization. Diabetes Medicine. 2012;29:755-60.

116. Jørgensen E Marit, Bjerregaard Peter, Johnsen-Borch Knut, Backer Vibeke, Becker Ulrik, Jørgensen Torben, et al. Diabetes and Impaired Glucose Tolerance Among the Inuit Population of Greenland. Diabetes Care. 2002;25:1766-71.